FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
3/4/2024 2:02 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/4/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102851-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 39171-0-III			
STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,			
v.			
WARREN J. PITTMAN, Petitioner.			
PETITION FOR REVIEW			

Andrea Burkhart, WSBA #38519 Two Arrows, PLLC 1360 N. Louisiana St. #A-789 Kennewick, WA 99336 Tel: (509) 572-2409 Email: Andrea@2arrows.net

Attorney for Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Warren Pittman requests that this court accept review of the decision designated in Part II of this petition.

II. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Petitioner seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals filed on February 1, 2024, concluding that his speedy trial right was not violated when it granted a continuance for defense investigation that defense counsel explicitly refused to request, and for prosecutor unavailability into which it conducted no inquiry. A copy of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is attached hereto.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The defendant has a right to prioritize his right to a speedy trial over trial preparation that he deems unhelpful. *State v. Denton*, 23 Wn. App. 2d 437, 458, 516 P.3d 422 (2022). Does good cause support granting a motion to continue a trial to conduct defense

- investigation when the request is made by the State and explicitly objected to by the defense?
- 2. Continuances related to system congestion require a detailed showing of the reasons for the backlog and steps taken to ameliorate it, in order that the State has an incentive to provide sufficient resources to try its cases.
 Denton, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 450. When the prosecutor is unavailable because he is scheduled for multiple trials on the same day, is an inquiry required into the conflict detailing the likelihood of the conflicting trial going forward, the availability of another deputy prosecutor to conduct the trial, and any steps taken to ameliorate known trial conflicts?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State arraigned Warren Pittman on multiple charges on March 1, 2022 and the court set the case for trial on April 25, 2022. CP 1-2, RP (McMaster) 3-4. Mr. Pittman was held in custody pretrial. CP 24, 28, 33. At a readiness conference

on April 4, 2022, Mr. Pittman's request to continue the trial date to May 23, 2022 was granted. RP (Draper) 3. As a result, the deadline to bring Mr. Pittman to trial would expire no later than June 22, 2022 under CrR 3.3(b)(5).

Subsequently, Mr. Pittman objected to any further continuances of his trial date. RP (McMaster) 6, 9. The State then moved to continue the May 23 trial date, arguing that the assigned prosecutor was in trial in another case and that defense interviews could not be scheduled in time. CP 26-27. At the hearing on the motion, counsel noted that the interview had been requested but Mr. Pittman objected to the continuance. RP (McMaster) 8-9. The trial court found good cause and continued the trial over Mr. Pittman's objection, stating:

The Court will grant a good cause continuance. There is a finding by the Court that the continuance is necessary in the administration of justice; neither side is ready for trial at this time. There's only been one prior agreed continuance that was jointly agreed by the parties, so I will grant the continuance.

Mr. Nagy is unavailable for trial due to being in another trial, and additional work needs to be done on the defense side, and Ms. Wasilewski needs to conduct an interview, and she would not be prepared or adequately prepared on the current date.

RP (McMaster) 9; see also CP 28.

The court set a new trial date of June 13, 2022. RP (McMaster) 10; CP 28. On May 31, the court confirmed the case as ready for trial and Mr. Pittman reiterated that he wanted the trial to proceed. RP (Weeks) 4-5. However, on June 9, 2022, the State again moved to continue the trial over Mr. Pittman's objection on the grounds of witness unavailability. RP (Weeks) 8; CP 31-32. The trial court again found good cause and continued the trial date to June 27, 2022, 5 days beyond the last date for trial arising from Mr. Pittman's agreed continuance. RP (Weeks) 10, 12; CP 33. For reasons that are not apparent in the record, the trial did not commence until July 12, 2022. CP 113.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The case presents an issue of significant public interest in the prompt administration of justice, which is "not only a personal right protected by the federal and state constitutions . . . [but] also an objective in which the public has an important interest." *State v. Striker*, 87 Wn.2d 870, 876, 557 P.2d 847 (1976) (internal citation omitted). At issue is whether the State may justify delaying trials by superseding the defendant's right to make his own judgments about what trial preparation is necessary, and whether, if the State schedules a prosecutor to be in multiple trials on the same day, trial continuances require the same kind of inquiry as continuances necessitated by general system congestion.

With respect to the first justification, the defendant has a right to prioritize a speedy trial over preparation he deems

unnecessary. *See Denton*, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 458. It is incompatible with the adversarial nature of criminal trials to permit the State to assert the defendant's interests in investigation to supersede the defendant's interests in a speedy trial. Because the defense objected to the continuance in this case, it was unreasonable for the trial court to rely on the need for defense investigation that Mr. Pittman was plainly willing to forego to proceed with trial as scheduled.

With respect to the second justification, the prosecutor being double-booked for trial is a matter of system congestion that should require an inquiry into whether a continuance is necessary in the administration of justice, just like continuances predicated on judicial unavailability, courtroom unavailability, or delays in the State crime lab. *See, e.g., State v. Kenyon*, 167 Wn.2d 130, 137, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009); *State v. Mack*, 89 Wn.2d 788, 793-94, 576 P.2d 44 (1978); *Denton*, 23 Wn. App. at 439; *State v. Wake*, 56 Wn. App. 472, 783 Wn. App. 472 (1989). Because all of these logjams arise from the State's

funding decisions to resource criminal prosecutions, "excusing such delays removes inducement for the State to remedy congestion." *State v. Flinn*, 154 Wn.2d 193, 200, 110 P.3d 748 (2005); *see also State v. Salgado-Mendoza*, 189 Wn.2d 420, 446, 403 P.3d 45 (2017) (Madsen, J., dissenting) ("If the State wishes to prosecute crimes, it must put sufficient resources into that prosecution to ensure fairness to the individuals charged."); *see also* Holland, Brooks, *The Two-Sided Speedy Trial Problem*, 90 WASH. L. REV. ONLINE 31, 33, 39-40 (2015) (arguing that insufficient resources drive justice delays).

Delays in bringing cases to trial affect not only the rights of the accused, but the public's interest in the prompt administration of justice as well. *See Denton*, 23 Wn. App. at 450. While the shortage of public defenders has been widely acknowledged, prosecutors are also facing a staffing crisis. *See* Hay, Bryan, *New Study Reveals Low Staffing, Burnout in the Nation's Largest Prosecutors' Offices* (Nov. 17, 2021), available online at https://news.lafayette.edu/2021/11/17/new-

study-reveals-low-staffing-burnout-in-the-nations-largest-prosecutors-offices/ (last visited March 4, 2024). If too many trials are assigned to too few prosecutors, then it merely exacerbates docket congestion to conclude that there is always good cause to continue a criminal trial when the prosecutor is double-booked.

Because the public has a substantial interest in the timely administration of justice, review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to determine whether the inquiry requirements necessary for congestion-based continuances should apply to prosecutorial unavailability due to conflicting trial settings.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) and this Court should enter a ruling that good cause did not support the continuance of Mr. Pittman's trial beyond the limits of the speedy trial rule.