FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/27/2024 3:14 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102851-2

SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

WARREN J. PITTMAN, PETITIONER

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL Prosecuting Attorney

Brett Pearce Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

I. INTRODUCTION

Warren Pittman was convicted of serious kidnapping and rape offenses. At the trial readiness hearing three weeks prior to the second trial setting, a substitute defense attorney indicated trial counsel was not ready for trial because she had yet to interview the victim. The attorney asked the court to keep the same trial date based on Mr. Pittman's personal objection but indicated trial counsel might file a future motion to continue the trial date. The court memorialized this representation.

One week prior to that trial date, the State moved for a continuance of the trial date due to the unavailability of the assigned prosecutor. At a subsequent hearing, the State indicated the defense had still not interviewed the victim, even though the defense had not filed the motion to continue the trial date earlier alluded to. Substitute defense counsel again confirmed that trial counsel was not ready for trial and had not interviewed the

victim. The court continued the trial date, finding both reasons justified the continuance.

Mr. Pittman's petition for review minimizes, if not ignores, that his trial counsel was never ready for trial. He instead claims the continuance was not justified by "general system congestion" or not justified because the accused may personally "make his own judgments about what trial preparation is necessary." Pet. at 5. Had trial occurred, this Court would likely be faced with a petition for review based on ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to investigate the case.

The Court of Appeals addressed only the prosecutor's requested basis for a continuance because it was unnecessary to reach the other basis. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's grant of a continuance. Review is not warranted, given the circumstances present in this case.

II. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

Mr. Pittman has filed a petition for review. The State seeks denial of Mr. Pittman's petition for review of the unpublished opinion issued by the Court of Appeals on February 1, 2024, *State v. Pittman*, No. 39171-0-III, 2024 WL 374709 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 1, 2024) (Op.).

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The need for defense counsel to adequately prepare for trial, including interviewing key witnesses, provides a basis for a trial court to extend the time for trial pursuant to CrR 3.3. Does Mr. Pittman present a case of significant public interest, where defense counsel was not ready for trial at the second trial setting because defense counsel had yet to interview the victim of a rape

¹ This case is unpublished and cited pursuant to GR 14.1(a) for context only.

and kidnapping, and where the court indicated that was one of the two bases justifying continuance of the trial date?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 10, 2021, the State charged Mr. Pittman with first degree rape, first degree robbery, first degree kidnapping, first degree criminal impersonation of a police officer, second degree taking of a motor vehicle without permission, and third degree malicious mischief. CP 1-2. The court scheduled trial to begin on April 25, 2022. Op. at 2.

April 4, 2022 – defense requests a first continuance to prepare for trial.

On April 4, 2022, the defense requested a first continuance of the original trial date from April 25, 2022, to May 23, 2022. RP (April 4, 2022) 3. A trial readiness date was scheduled for May 2, 2022. *Id.* The basis for the continuance was the defense was not ready for trial. *Id.* The State did not object. *Id.* The Court granted the defense's request. CP 25.

May 2, 2022 - trial readiness hearing.

At the May 2, 2022, trial readiness hearing, the defense represented to the court that trial counsel was not ready for trial on May 23, 2022, but Mr. Pittman was personally objecting to a continuance. RP (May 2, 2022) 3. Another attorney was covering for Mr. Pittman's assigned counsel and reported, "I was not instructed to call it ready, so I am not doing that." *Id.* The State had anticipated that defense was seeking a continuance. *Id.* The court orally indicated the parties were not ready for trial, and indicated "defense to file a motion" to continue because the defense was not ready for trial. *Id.* at 3-4, 6.

May 16, 2022 - the State files a motion to continue after the defense failed to do so; the defense is still not ready for trial.

Defense did not file a motion to continue the trial date based on lack of preparation, despite the trial court's previous resolution of the May 2 readiness hearing. CP 26.

Two weeks later, on May 16, 2022, the State moved the court to continue the trial date two weeks, to June 13, 2022. CP 26-27. The assigned prosecutor stated he was currently scheduled to go to trial on a different case on June 6, 2022, which had already been called ready and which the court had indicated would not be continued further. CP 27. In addition, the State observed the defense did not call ready for trial on May 2, 2022, and had yet to set a motion to continue as indicated at that hearing. CP 26. The State also noted that on May 11, 2022, the defense asked for the State to set up witness interviews, but those interviews could not occur before the scheduled trial date of May 23, 2022. CP 26-27.

The court held a hearing on the State's request on May 19, 2022. RP (May 19, 2022) 5. An attorney covering for the assigned prosecutor stated the assigned prosecutor was not available for trial, but also noted defense counsel was still not

ready for trial. *Id.* An attorney covering for the assigned defense attorney agreed that the assigned defense attorney "has been wanting to interview the alleged victim for a bit and needs that to be set up in this case." *Id.* at 5-6. Counsel for both parties acknowledged Mr. Pittman was personally objecting to the continuance. *Id.* at 5, 6.

The court inquired whether Mr. Pittman's assigned counsel would be ready for the current trial date of May 23, 2022.

Id. at 6. The following exchange occurred:

THE COURT: Is the defense ready on the current date?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: The only notes I have from Ms. Wasilewski, Your Honor, is that she needs the interview set up with the alleged victim; it didn't say one way or the other.

THE COURT: Can you identify any prejudice the continuance would cause?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I mean, I cannot, Your Honor; however, Mr. Pittman is in custody.

THE COURT: Very well. Thank you. The Court will grant a good cause continuance. There is a finding by the Court that the continuance is necessary in the administration of justice; neither side is ready for trial at this time. There's only been one prior agreed continuance that was jointly agreed by the parties, so I will grant the continuance. [The prosecutor] is unavailable for trial due to being in another trial, and additional work needs to be done on the defense side, and Ms. Wasilewski needs to conduct an interview, and she would not be prepared or adequately prepared on the current date.

RP (May 19, 2022) 6 (emphasis added).

The court continued the trial to June 13, 2022, and set a new readiness hearing for May 31, 2022. *Id.* at 7-8; CP 28. The court's written order reflected its finding that the defense attorney still needed time to interview the victim. CP 28. The scheduling order notes an objection but fails to specify that the objection was the defendant's personal objection to the trial date, not defense counsel's objection. CP 28. The court also found

that this was only the second continuance of the trial date in this case. CP 28.

V. ARGUMENT

A. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW.

This Court should deny Mr. Pittman's petition for review, which was brought solely under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This Court has the discretion to grant review when a petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Mr. Pittman relies only on this rule of appellate procedure in his petition for review. Pet. at 5.

Although Mr. Pittman's issue is public in nature, it is not significant because he has neglected to analyze his own counsel's request for the trial date to be set aside, which presented a far more compelling justification for the trial court's order setting a new trial date. The Court of Appeals, pursuant to well-settled

standards applicable to continuance requests, rejected Mr. Pittman's claim, but did so without reaching the second basis of the trial court's ruling. Although the Court of Appeals did not err by affirming the decision and declining to address defense counsel's readiness for trial, the State responds to Mr. Pittman's petition primarily to demonstrate why review is also unwarranted due to defense counsel's need to prepare for trial.

2. The time for trial court rule.

CrR 3.3 governs a defendant's right to be brought to trial in a timely manner. CrR 3.3(b)(1) and (c)(1) provide that a defendant who is detained in jail must be brought to trial within 60 days of arraignment. The purpose of this rule is to protect a defendant's constitutional right to a speedy trial, but analysis of the rule and the constitutional right differ. *State v. Kenyon*, 167 Wn.2d 130, 136, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009).

CrR 3.3(e) provides that certain time periods are excluded in computing the time for trial. These excludable time periods include continuances the court grants for "[u]navoidable or unforeseen circumstances affecting the time for trial beyond the control of the court or of the parties," and for continuances under CrR 3.3(f). CrR 3.3(e)(3),(8). Under CrR 3.3(f), the trial court may continue the trial date on motion of the court or a party "when such continuance is required in the administration of justice and the defendant will not be prejudiced in the presentation of his or her defense." CrR 3.3(f)(2). In granting a motion for a continuance, "[t]he court must state on the record or in writing the reasons for the continuance." CrR 3.3(f)(2).

This Court reviews an alleged violation of the time for trial rule de novo. *Kenyon*, 167 Wn.2d at 135. However, this Court reviews the trial court's decision to grant a continuance under CrR 3.3(f)(2) for an abuse of discretion. *See id*. In addition, once

a continuance is properly granted, the trial court has discretion in selecting the new trial date. *See State v. Flinn*, 154 Wn.2d 193, 200-01, 110 P.3d 748 (2005). A court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable, based on untenable grounds, or based on untenable reasons. *Kenyon*, 167 Wn.2d at 135. Invited errors are not subject to review, even where the error is not based in negligence or bad faith. *City of Seattle v. Patu*, 147 Wn.2d 717, 720-21, 58 P.3d 273 (2002).

Simply put, Mr. Pittman has recast the defense's necessity to prepare for trial as the State "superseding the defendant's right to make his own judgments about what trial preparation is necessary." Pet. at 5. However, the State did not argue for a continuance on behalf of the defendant. Instead, the State reminded the court that defense counsel had made an oversight in failing to file a formal request to continue the trial date after counsel indicated to the court she was not ready for trial because

she had not interviewed the victim in a serious kidnapping and rape case.² At the May 19, 2022 readiness hearing, substitute counsel indicated to the court that the assigned trial attorney was not prepared because she had been unable to interview the victim. If an error did occur, it was partially invited.

The court's reasoning in granting the continuance on this basis, in part, was tenable: defense counsel's lack of preparation is a legitimate basis for a continuance. *Kenyon*, 167 Wn.2d at 138. "It is not a manifest abuse of discretion for a court to grant a continuance under CrR 3.3(h)(2) to allow defense counsel more time to prepare for trial, even over [the] defendant's objection, to ensure effective representation and a fair trial." *State v. Williams*, 104 Wn. App. 516, 523, 17 P.3d 648 (2001) (citing *State v. Campbell*, 103 Wn.2d 1, 15, 691 P.2d 929 (1984)).

² At a minimum, any alleged error should not be reviewed as it was invited by the multiple acknowledgements on the record that defense counsel was not ready for trial on May 23, 2022.

Of course, had the trial court forced counsel to go to trial, without an opportunity to interview the victim, it is very likely that Mr. Pittman would have a strong claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to investigate. "[T]rial counsel must investigate the case, and investigation includes witness interviews," particularly where the witness is "important." State v. Jones, 183 Wn.2d 327, 339, 352 P.3d 776 (2015) (citing Jones v. Wood, 114 F.3d 1002 (9th Cir. 1997)); see also State v. Jury, 19 Wn. App. 256, 264, 576 P.2d 1302 (1978) (failure of counsel to "adequately acquaint himself with the facts of the case by interviewing witnesses" may support a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel). Defense counsel needed more time to investigate the case to ethically represent Mr. Pittman, and properly indicated she was not ready. While the State provided an independent basis to request a continuance, there was nothing improper about the State providing the court with a complete record that defense counsel had never filed the motion requesting a continuance of the trial date and had been unable to interview the victim.³ Because the trial date had not been resolved in accordance with the court's notation that defense was to file a motion, the court did not err by inquiring further of defense counsel. While *extensive* delay due to counsel's need for preparation may—in extreme circumstances—not justify further continuance, this was the second trial setting, only one month removed from the first setting. Under these circumstances, this Court should decline review.

VI. CONCLUSION

Mr. Pittman's counsel was not ready for trial, as she had yet to interview the victim, an important witness in Mr. Pittman's

³ RPC 3.8 cmt. 1 indicates a prosecutor has a responsibility to accord an accused procedural justice. Permitting trial counsel an opportunity to prepare for a serious trial in accordance with the defense attorney's own ethical obligations fits the spirit of that rule.

trial on serious charges. The trial court appropriately based in part its continuance of the first trial setting on the defense's representation. This case does not warrant further review.

This document contains 2,437 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.